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Name: HATHEROP CASTLE

County: Gloucestershire

District: Cotswold (District Authority)

Parish: Hatherop

County: Gloucestershire

District: Cotswold (District Authority)

Parish: Quenington

label.localisation: Latitude: 51.739774

Longitude: -1.7663968

National Grid Reference: SP1622704589

Map: Download a full scale map (PDF)

label.localisation: [51.7445808887804,-1.77890165815778], [51.7445234194895,-1.77892225625352],

[51.7445216541628,-1.77895843385074], [51.7444730404929,-1.77897344428669],

[51.744421910967,-1.77898933597881], [51.7442529722596,-1.77903940400417],

[51.7440139470633,-1.77911298691711], [51.7440112470385,-1.77911155170288],

[51.7440198767955,-1.7788234297141], [51.7440290147782,-1.7785190834321],

[51.7440425028937,-1.77804264980741], [51.7442114764251,-1.77801126212613],

[51.7442968692551,-1.77799925711664], [51.74436158547,-1.77798880166492],

[51.7444110224151,-1.77798131774566], [51.7444415809511,-1.77797537461831],

[51.7444550628349,-1.77797284636562], [51.744459556705,-1.77797195533549],

[51.7444649494038,-1.77797091506646], [51.7444746547859,-1.77796826046339],

[51.7444981997792,-1.77796206198284], [51.7445287501151,-1.77795177372482],

[51.7445628941245,-1.77794001947229], [51.7445724286794,-1.77803744899156],

[51.7445797990284,-1.7781315578575], [51.7445807333549,-1.77815023743645],

[51.744585018827,-1.77822958790762], [51.7445879912018,-1.77828012197198],

[51.7445905908183,-1.77832370562165], [51.7445943945282,-1.77843376422482],

[51.7445981299889,-1.77850761357241], [51.7446037017576,-1.77860173134856],

[51.7446102760426,-1.77875088287279], [51.7446255444865,-1.77888565303767],

[51.7445808887804,-1.77890165815778]

label.localisation: [51.7357234212736,-1.7641477045042], [51.7356973037613,-1.76412611880483],

[51.7356765924721,-1.76411029741238], [51.735655884084,-1.76409592411801],

[51.7356351815011,-1.76408444700275], [51.7356117845132,-1.76407443200959],

[51.735582088,-1.76406155360064], [51.7355595901124,-1.76405153395406],

[51.7355334958141,-1.76404153302576], [51.735496600669,-1.76402579592209],
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[51.7354678090609,-1.76401580905516], [51.7354408127524,-1.76400436476855],

[51.7354219199829,-1.76399867069787], [51.7353967334958,-1.76399300937809],

[51.7353562564571,-1.76398453144471], [51.7353103906121,-1.76397897774165],

[51.7352888063432,-1.76397619387678], [51.7352744032745,-1.76396758030158],

[51.7352496371335,-1.76396842452735], [51.7355912175186,-1.76524509199359],

[51.7356803298692,-1.7651894596576], [51.7357478868601,-1.76511084293992],

[51.7357549128483,-1.7650389560853], [51.735749984592,-1.76496456366557],

[51.7357248153938,-1.76484423380691], [51.7357381890478,-1.76478768852124],

[51.7357471019067,-1.76474854355901], [51.7357551359199,-1.76471953985344],

[51.7357631873015,-1.76469922466044], [51.7357739272984,-1.76467455120437],

[51.735787367494,-1.76465131182931], [51.7358034905082,-1.76462081800189],

[51.7358169220016,-1.76459323432922], [51.7358276619761,-1.76456856081878],

[51.7358437791729,-1.76453517075545], [51.7358527238285,-1.76451195464229],

[51.7358589740707,-1.76449020061495], [51.7358616423925,-1.7644757057076],

[51.7358652040173,-1.76445830994897], [51.7358660567359,-1.7644351358337],

[51.7358669268461,-1.76442065026011], [51.7358669152487,-1.7644148578984],

[51.7358632985429,-1.76440473994518], [51.7358271488412,-1.76431224903681],

[51.7358081690581,-1.76426311213361], [51.7358018463278,-1.76424866395948],

[51.7357937224892,-1.76423277704794], [51.7357846995461,-1.76421689481573],

[51.7357639650527,-1.76418948865448], [51.7357459423723,-1.76416930892675],

[51.7357234212736,-1.7641477045042]

label.overview: Heritage Category: Park and Garden

Grade: II

List Entry Number: 1000767

Date first listed: 28-Feb-1986

Details

C16 or C17 park, with mid C19 formal garden beside Hatherop Castle.

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT

The manor of Hatherop belonged to Lacock Abbey (qv) in Wiltshire until the Dissolution of the Monasteries, when it was sold

by the Crown to Sir William Sharington. It passed to the Earl of Pembroke before being bought by John Blomer (d 1558) in 1553

(Kingsley 1989). John's son, William Blomer (d 1613), may have built the Castle not long after he inherited. Hatherop remained

in the Blomer family until 1686, when another William Blomer died and the property passed into the hands of the Webb family

on the marriage of William's sister to Sir John Webb of Canford, Dorset. In 1778, the then owner, another John Webb, agreed

with Samuel Blackwell of Williamstrip Park that both parks should be landscaped together by the professional designer Richard

Woods (Agreement, GRO). At his death in 1797, Sir John Webb left Hatherop Castle to his granddaughter, Lady Barbara

Ashley Cooper (d 1844), whose husband, William Ponsonby, became Lord de Mauley in 1838. In 1848 Hatherop was severely

damaged by fire and was almost completely rebuilt by the architect Henry Clutton. On Lord de Mauley's death, in 1855, the

Castle passed to his son Charles, who leased it to his younger brother Ashley George John Ponsonby, MP for Cirencester. The

Castle passed into the hands of the Government who leased it in 1862 to the Maharajah Duleep Singh of Lahore.
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In 1867 it was bought by Thomas Sebastian Bazley (d 1919), who inherited the baronetcy of Tolmers (Herts) in 1885. By 1900,

Sir Thomas had conveyed the estate to his son Gardner Sebastian Bazley (d 1911). Gardner's trustees retained the Hatherop

estate until the mid 1930s, when it passed to his son Sir Thomas Stafford Bazley. From 1946, Sir Thomas leased the Castle to

Owlstone Croft School, a girls' public school later known as Hatherop Castle School. In 1972, the school purchased the Castle

and c 15 acres (c 6ha). The Castle and park remain (2000) in private hands, with the park in divided ownership.

DESCRIPTION

LOCATION, AREA, BOUNDARIES, LANDFORM, SETTING Hatherop Castle stands at the north side of its park, c 300m

west of the village of Hatherop, which is 4km north of Fairford and 13km north-east of Cirencester. The Castle is approached

via a minor road from the east which connects the north to south-running Bibury to Fairford and Hatherop to Fairford roads.

The c 100ha site is bounded mainly by high-quality coursed stone walls up to 1.5m high. The southern boundary wall of the

park incorporates a date-stone of 1868. There are also occasional sections of wrought-iron railings. Minor roads run along the

park's southern boundary and part of its northern boundary. The boundary to the north-west is defined by the right bank of the

River Coln, which then turns south along the western edge of the ridge which runs north/south across the middle of the park.

The Castle stands at the north end of this ridge. The park is bounded to the east by agricultural land.

ENTRANCES AND APPROACHES The main approach to the Castle is from the north. Some 150m north of the Castle, a

pair of c 2.5m high square ashlar piers with ball finials are set back from the road in a c 1.5m high ashlar wall, topped by a

clipped box hedge. The piers support two wrought-iron gates (mid C19 piers, gates, and wall listed grade II). From the gateway

a straight drive leads south, flanked by lawns, to the main door in the centre of the Castle's north facade, in front of which is

a rectangular forecourt, enclosed to the north and east by a low ashlar wall and to the west by ornate wrought-iron railings.

Various service drives lead east and west from the main drive.

Another entrance lies c 600m south of the Castle. Square ashlar piers, c 2.5m high, with ball finials, are set back from the road

in a low stone wall and support late C20 plain wooden gates. From here a track leads north-east, past a single-storey, stone,

slate-roofed lodge (c 1870, rebuilt 1886) to the east, following the ridge through Netherton Copse, to the Castle. Another lodge

(c 1870) stands north-east of a crossroads in the park, 500m to the south-east of the Castle. The remains of an avenue (possibly

C19) run north-west from the lodge, towards the Castle. A third lodge (built c 1870, rebuilt 1890) stands 650m south-east of

the Castle on the southern boundary. A track leads north-east from it, into the park.

PRINCIPAL BUILDING Hatherop Castle (listed grade II) was built in the C16 and C17 but was extensively restored and

extended from 1850 to 1856 by Henry Clutton for Lord de Mauley. The Castle is of coursed and dressed stone or ashlar, with

slate roofs and scattered ashlar stacks. The building is a complex rectangular block, mostly of three storeys or two plus attics,

with a five-storey square tower to the south-west. The north front remains largely as it was in Kip's view of 1712 (Atkyns 1712),

with six coped gables and a central, embattled entrance tower of three storeys. The south facade is of the mid C19 and has a

three-gabled central block, with the larger, end gables of the east and west facades to each side. A large C19 archway at the

east end of the Castle connects the main building to a three-storey square tower, from which there is direct access to the church

of St Nicholas (also rebuilt by Clutton, 1854-5, listed grade II*).

GARDENS AND PLEASURE GROUNDS The gardens extend around all but the east and north-east sides of the Castle, where

the kitchen garden and church are located. North of the Castle, lawns of c 1ha flank the drive. There has been some late C20

tree-planting here but otherwise the lawns are mainly open. Mature specimen trees at their south end, adjacent to the Castle,

include a ginkgo and a beech. East of the north-east corner of the lawns, c 150m north-east of the Castle, former stone stables

and other outbuildings, now (2000) used as school buildings, stand north and south of a yard, to the east of a c 1.5m high coursed

stone wall, with a gateway flanked by c 2.5m high square ashlar piers with ball finials. On the east side of the lawn a row of

mature yew trees stands at the top of a grass bank, west of a gravel path which runs along the west wall of the kitchen garden.

At the west side of the Castle is the late C19 Italian Garden. This 50m long, rectangular terraced garden is separated from the

forecourt north of the Castle by a row of ornate ashlar piers and wrought-iron railings on a low stone plinth (1850-6, listed

grade II), built by Henry Clutton for William de Mauley. A large, arched, decorative stone gateway stands in the centre and the

de Mauley monogram is included in its frieze. A small, single-storey ashlar orangery stands at the northern end of the railings
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(1885, listed grade II with the gateway). A straight gravel walk leads south-west from the orangery, above the level of the

Italian Garden, along the west face of the Castle. The Italian Garden is enclosed to the north and south by stepped ashlar walls

up to 1.5m high, with stone urns at each end and at the centre. Stone steps lead down from the middle of the gravel walk to

the top grass terrace. A gravel path continues west, on the line of the top steps, to a second flight of stone steps, leading to the

lower terrace. A gravel path also runs north/south, across the east side of the top terrace. On the lower terrace the line of the

axial path continues west but the path widens into a diamond shape around a central, stone-edged square flower bed (formerly

a fountain). Two stone-edged beds flank the path. Only slight earthworks in the grass remain to indicate the position of other,

similar beds (removed late C20) which formed a C19 geometric parterre here. Cast-iron figures stand to each side of a short

flight of stone steps at the west side of the lower terrace, leading down to a gravel walk which runs north/south, past the west

end of the garden. A strip of lawn divides the path from a clipped box hedge to its west. A gap in the hedge, aligned with the

east/west axial path through the Italian Garden, gives access to a c 1ha area of rough grass and mixed trees to the west (once

an ornamental plantation, Sale catalogue, 1862). The walk once continued west to water gardens on the River Coln (known

as 'the Trout Stream' in 1862) at the bottom of the valley (T Verdon pers comm, 2000). North of the Italian Garden is a small

rectangular pool (1976).

The gravel path curves south-east from the Italian Garden to the lawns south of the Castle. A branch of the path goes north

then runs east, along the south facade of the Castle. A thick yew hedge stands at the south-west corner of the Castle. To its

west is a small C20 wildlife pond. At the south-west edge of the lawns south of the Castle, the ground falls away sharply to

the south-west. Mature specimen trees, including a cedar and a holm oak, stand along the east edge of the lawn. The lawns

are enclosed to the east by high wrought-iron railings, divided by ashlar piers with ball finials, which extend south from the

south-east corner of the Castle for c 50m. An ornate stone gateway (c 3m high, with carved decorations including William de

Mauley's monogram) and wrought-iron gate stand in a short section of ashlar wall at the north end of the railings. A yew hedge

grows along the west side of the railings. A path runs along the east side of the railings, between them and the 3m high ashlar

wall of the churchyard. At the south end of the enclosed section of path stands a pair of c 3m high square ashlar piers with ball

and obelisk finials. South of this gateway, the path continues south then divides, one branch going east to a Victorian tennis

court south of the churchyard and the other continuing south, through Netherton Copse, to a lodge on the southern boundary of

the park. Nothing visible remains of the enclosed formal garden shown immediately south of the Castle on Kip's view of 1712

(Atkyns 1712) and it is possible that this garden was never built (T Verdon pers comm, 2000).

PARK The park is divided into two parts by the ridge on which stands Netherton Copse. The area east of the ridge is

approximately twice as large as that to the west. The park is used as permanent pasture and has thin belts of trees on its south

boundary and along the public road which runs from north-west to south-east through the eastern half of the park. Clumps of

trees are scattered throughout the park. An avenue from the east lodge to the Castle remains. There are views from the southern

half of Netherton Copse, north-west across the park to the village of Coln St Aldwyn. The park was established in the C16

or C17 and was landscaped jointly with Williamstrip Park (to the north) in 1778 by Richard Woods (probably not Richard

Woods of Essex), for John Webb.

KITCHEN GARDEN The rectangular kitchen garden, c 1ha, lies c 50m north-east of the Castle. It is enclosed by a brick wall

and divided by an internal wall into two compartments, the western compartment being approximately twice as large as the

eastern. In the centre of the west wall a pair of wrought-iron gates with an overthrow is supported by two c 3.5m high square

ashlar piers with decorative flat stone caps. To the north of the gates, the brick wall is c 1.5m high and to the south it is c 3m.

The western part of the kitchen garden is used for growing vegetables, in large plots divided by grass paths. The eastern part is

grassed and contains a late C20 tennis court. An orchard stands in the south-west corner of the kitchen garden. A small, solid

wooden gate at the south end of the west wall also gives access to the kitchen garden. The kitchen garden is depicted in Kip's

early C18 view (Atkyns 1712) and its basic shape appears to have changed little since then.
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This list entry was subject to a Minor Amendment on 19/11/2019

Legal

This garden or other land is registered under the Historic Buildings and Ancient Monuments Act 1953 within the Register of

Historic Parks and Gardens by Historic England for its special historic interest.


